**WEST VIRGINIA  
SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS  
CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA**

**Wayne White, Michael Wood, Joshua Gandee,  
and others similarly situated, and the  
International Association of Fire Fighters Local 91,**

**Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,**

**v.**

**City of Parkersburg,**

**Defendant Below, Respondent.**

**CASE NO. 24-82  
Civil Action No. 18-C-259  
(Wood County)**

---

**PETITIONERS' BRIEF**

---

/s/ Walt Auvil  
WALT AUVIL (WVSB #190)  
KIRK AUVIL (WVSB #12953)  
Counsel for Plaintiffs Below/Petitioners

The Employment Law Center, PLLC  
1208 Market Street  
Parkersburg, WV 26101  
(304) 485-3058

## *

## **I. Assignments of Error**

1. The City's 2017 reduction of its firefighters' longevity increment and EMT pay was in violation of its written pay policies, nine years of the City's pay practices and the West Virginia Wage Payment Collection Act and the Intermediate Court's Reversal of that determination by the Circuit Court was error.
2. There was no overpayment of longevity or EMT certification pay by the City and the Intermediate Court's Reversal of that determination by the Circuit Court was error.
3. The City's belated attempt to reframe its defense to its firefighters' efforts to restore City's 2017 cuts to their hourly rate of pay was correctly rejected by the Circuit Court in its final order of August 31, 2022 and the Intermediate Court's Reversal of that determination by the Circuit Court was error.
4. The International Association of Fire Fighters Local 91 has representative standing under the test enunciated in *Affiliated Construction Trades Foundation v. W. Va. DOT*, 227 W.Va. 651, 713 S.E.2d 809 (2011) and the Intermediate Court's Reversal of that determination by the Circuit Court was error.

## **II. Statement of the Case**

At issue in this proceeding are two classes of increased hourly pay applicable to Firefighters for the City of Parkersburg from 2008 until 2011, including longevity pay as well as additional pay based upon their status as licensed EMTs, all benefits due to those firefighters working a forty-eight-hour work week. Petitioners, all full-time Parkersburg firefighters, filed suit in this matter after the City of Parkersburg recalculated longevity and EMT pay for this time period and lowered the hourly pay for these employees in 2017. While the record is voluminous and the arguments asserted by the City are convoluted, the facts in this case are undisputed. The City of Parkersburg's 2017 "reinterpretation" of the longevity pay and EMT pay ordinances ignored the plain language of the 2008 ordinances and resulted in illegal prospective reductions to Respondents' hourly pay after the City recalculated hourly rates contrary to the pay ordinances at

issue. In doing so, the City of Parkersburg violated the ordinances in question, acted contrary to years of prior practice, and violated the West Virginia Wage Payment Collection Act.

### **III. Summary of the Argument**

The City of Parkersburg's 2017 "reinterpretation" of the longevity pay and EMT pay ordinances resulted in illegal reductions to Respondents' hourly pay contrary to the plain language of those ordinances and contrary to nine years of pay practices which had been consistent with the ordinances. In doing so, the City violated the ordinances in question, acted contrary to nine years of prior practice, and violated the West Virginia Wage Payment Collection Act. The ICA's decision usurps the role of the Circuit Court at times while at others reading entire statutory provisions out of existence. Both the City and the ICA must be corrected in this matter.

### **IV. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision**

Petitioners posit that oral argument is necessary in this case. This particular case has come before this Court on two prior occasions (on writs of mandamus) and continues to pose several thorny legal questions, now involving multiple misinterpretations of blackletter law by the ICA which beg for correction by this Court.

### **V. Standard of Review**

At the time this brief was filed, this Court had not yet issued a decision addressing what standard of review will be applied by this Court to appeals from ICA decisions. Petitioners respectfully submit that the standard of review this Court applies to an appeal of a summary judgment order issued by a circuit court should be applied to this appeal of the ICA's decision reversing the Circuit Court's decision to grant summary judgment to Petitioners herein. Adopting

that standard, the entry of summary judgment would be reviewed de novo; summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried. The ICA's function is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but is to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial; and summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove. Syllabus Points 1, 2, 3, and 4, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

## **VI. Facts and Procedural History**

At issue in this proceeding are two classes of increased hourly pay applicable to Firefighters for the City of Parkersburg from 2008 until 2011, including longevity pay as well as additional pay based upon their status as licensed EMTs, all benefits due to those firefighters working a forty-eight hour work-week. Petitioners, all full-time Parkersburg firefighters, filed suit in this matter after the City of Parkersburg recalculated longevity and EMT pay for this time period and lowered the hourly pay for these employees in 2017. While the record is voluminous, the facts in this case are undisputed.

In 2008, Parkersburg City Council adopted two ordinances increasing the hourly rate of pay of certain “fire civil service employees.” One ordinance (entitled “Longevity Plan”) added \$.25 per hour for each year of service to the pay of fire civil service employees who worked a 48-hour work week. The second ordinance [Article 125.01(c)] added \$.42 per hour to the pay of fire civil service employees who maintained certification as Emergency Medical Technicians (EMTs).<sup>1</sup> Petitioners White, Wood and Gandee were fire civil service employees who worked a 48-hour

---

<sup>1</sup> These two pay policies were attached as Exhibits A and B respectively to *Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment* and can be found in the *Joint Appendix* at 423 and 424 .

work- week in 2008 when these two policies were adopted. *Amended Complaint ¶ 1, Answer to Amended Complaint ¶ 1, Joint Appendix* at 23, 125. Longevity pay was frozen – that is no new increments for additional longevity were added – in 2011, at the same time Petitioners’ work schedules were altered from 48 hour weeks to 54 hour weeks by the City.

From 2008 through 2017 the City adhered to the two policies as written, providing Petitioners an additional \$.25 per hour worked for each year of service (longevity pay) and \$.42 per hour to employees who maintained certification as an EMT. In 2017, the City began to “reinterpret” the two pay ordinances and reduced both longevity (reduced to .2222) and EMT pay (reduced to .37) for city fire employees. The City asserts both hourly increments were reduced to reflect what it believed was the intent behind these two ordinance and admits that following the adoption of both pay policies by the Parkersburg City Council in 2008, Petitioners were paid consistently pursuant to those policies for nine years. Then – with no change to either written policy –the City recalculated longevity and EMT pay and reduced both.

The City asserts that this “reinterpretation” and the resulting pay reduction reflects the intent of the “Longevity Plan” ordinance to provide longevity pay totaling six hundred twenty-four (\$624) dollars per year for each year of city service, not an additional \$.25 per hour for each year of city service which it had been paying. Based upon this 2017 reinterpretation, the City assessed the Petitioners’ work schedules and divided their scheduled hours for each year by \$624, and then added that amount to each Petitioner’s hourly rate. This resulted in a reduced hourly rate of pay for all Petitioners. The amount of the hourly reduction depended upon the number of years of each employee’s city service: the higher the years of service, the greater the reduction in longevity pay each Petitioner suffered due to the City’s 2017 reinterpretation.

The EMT pay was treated similarly. As with longevity pay, in 2017 the City reinterpreted its EMT pay policy to “annualize” the EMT hourly increment based upon the City’s determination that the intent of the ordinance was to provide Petitioners and other EMT-certified firefighters with a total increase in pay of \$1,040 annually, as opposed to the hourly amount stated in the ordinance creating the EMT pay. Dividing the \$1,040 annual amount the City decided was due under the policy into the Petitioners’ 54-hour per week schedule resulted in a reduction of their EMT pay from the \$.42 per hour provide in the ordinance to a newly imposed rate of \$.37 per hour. The City admits that the EMT pay ordinance does not mention the \$.37 per hour rate to began paying the Petitioners in 2017.<sup>2</sup> The City also admits that all Petitioners have been negatively affected by its 2017 reinterpretation of the two ordinances at issue in this civil action. Amended Complaint ¶¶5-7, Answer to Amended Complaint ¶¶ 5-7, *Joint Appendix* at 91-92; 125-126.<sup>3</sup> The hourly pay reductions were as follows, in the order in which the salary records were produced by the City: <sup>4</sup>

| BATES NO.    | NAME           | DATE      | AMOUNT CUT |
|--------------|----------------|-----------|------------|
| City 00001-2 | Kevin Ackerman | 5/22/2017 | -0.30¢/hr. |
| City 0003-4  | Douglas Ashley | 5/22/2017 | -0.29¢/hr. |

<sup>2</sup> When the longevity and EMT pay was adopted in 2008, Appellees and other members of the Fire Department worked 48-hour work-week schedules. In 2011, their work schedules were changed by the City from 48 hour to 54-hour work weeks. Although 54-hour per week, EMT certified employees are not explicitly mentioned in Article 125.01(c), from 2008 through 2017, the City nevertheless paid Appellees the additional \$.42 per hour as set forth in the ordinance if EMT certification was maintained by the employee. The City however, did use 54 hours to calculate the EMT pay rather than using 48 hours, the number of hours the additional pay was accumulated under, thus further reducing these additions to the hourly rate.

<sup>3</sup> Salary records produced by the City for all affected firefighters were produced as identified above, and attached as Exhibit B to Plaintiff's Memorandum Regarding Enforcement of the Court's Amended Order Of October 22, 2021, *Joint Appendix* at 478-481, City 0001-65. *Joint Appendix* at 649-650. Each firefighters’ wage loss is the reduction of the hourly rate taken by the City in 2017 (as set forth above) multiplied by the number of hours each has worked from his 2017 reduction in pay to date. Each affected firefighter is also entitled to legal interest on the back wage due from the reduction in pay to date.

<sup>4</sup> Although the City contends it did not reduce White’s longevity pay, Respondent admits White is affected by both decisions at issue in this civil action. Amended Complaint ¶ 6, Answer to Amended Complaint ¶ 6, *Joint Appendix* at 91, 123.

|              |                    |           |            |
|--------------|--------------------|-----------|------------|
| City 0005-6  | Justin Belva       | 5/22/2017 | -0.33¢/hr. |
| City 0007-8  | Brandon Brown      | 5/22/2017 | -0.29¢/hr. |
| City 0009-10 | Jeff Burdette      | 5/22/2017 | -0.37¢/hr. |
| City 0011    | Jody Costa         | 5/22/2017 | -0.27¢/hr. |
| City 0012-14 | Brian Drake        | 5/22/2017 | -0.33¢/hr. |
| City 0015-16 | Chad Eddy          | 5/22/2017 | -0.34¢/hr. |
| City 0017-18 | Jason Enoch        | 5/22/2017 | -0.33¢/hr. |
| City 0019    | Jason Fleak        | 5/22/2017 | -0.27¢/hr. |
| City 0020-21 | Timothy Flinn      | 6/5/2017  | -0.33¢/hr. |
| City 0022    | Matthew Gebhardt   | 6/5/2017  | -0.29¢/hr. |
| City 0023    | Jimmie Harper, Jr. | 5/22/2017 | -0.29¢/hr. |
| City 0024-25 | Mark Kunselman     | 5/22/2017 | -0.37¢/hr. |
| City 0026-27 | Emmett Moore       | 5/22/2017 | -0.25¢/hr. |
| City 0028-29 | Carl Nestor        | 5/22/2017 | -0.34¢/hr. |
| City 0030-31 | Eric Poole         | 5/22/2017 | -0.34¢/hr. |
| City 0032-33 | Robert Roach       | 5/22/2017 | -0.38¢/hr. |
| City 0034    | David Sims         | 5/22/2017 | -0.30¢/hr. |
| City 0035-37 | Eric Taylor        | 5/22/2017 | -0.76¢/hr. |
| City 0038-39 | James Tracewell    | 5/22/2017 | -0.34¢/hr. |
| City 0040-41 | Eric Waybright     | 5/22/2017 | -0.34¢/hr. |
| City 0042-43 | Wayne White        | 4/12/2017 | -0.61¢/hr. |
| City 0044-45 | Robert Wix, Jr.    | 5/22/2017 | -0.36¢/hr. |
| City 0046-47 | Michael Wood       | 5/22/2017 | -0.29¢/hr. |

|              |                   |           |            |
|--------------|-------------------|-----------|------------|
| City 0048-49 | Bradley Workman   | 5/22/2017 | -0.29¢/hr. |
| City 0051    | Randall Affolter  | 5/22/2017 | -0.25¢/hr. |
| City 0051    | John Geary, II    | 5/22/2017 | -0.25¢/hr. |
| City 0052    | James Keeling     | 5/22/2017 | -0.25¢/hr. |
| City 0053    | Thomas Werry      | 5/22/2017 | -0.25¢/hr. |
| City 0054    | Benjamin Woodward | 5/22/2017 | -0.25¢/hr. |
| City 0055    | Randall Delancey  | 5/22/2017 | -0.21¢/hr. |
| City 0056    | Jason Matthews    | 6/5/2017  | -0.21¢/hr. |
| City 0057    | Jody Ludwig       | 5/22/2017 | -0.21¢/hr. |
| City 0057    | John Bartenschlag | 5/22/2017 | -0.17¢/hr. |
| City 0059    | Bradley Huggins   | 5/22/2017 | -0.17¢/hr. |
| City 0060    | Mark Byrd         | 5/22/2017 | -0.15¢/hr. |
| City 0061    | Bradley Dimit     | 5/22/2017 | -0.15¢/hr. |
| City 0062    | Jonathan Lee      | 5/22/2017 | -0.15¢/hr. |
| City 0063    | Patrick Davis     | 5/22/2017 | -0.11¢/hr. |
| City 0064    | Samuel Rutherford | 5/22/2017 | -0.11¢/hr. |
| City 0065    | Joshua Gandee     | 5/22/2017 | -0.08¢/hr. |

The two decisions challenged herein reduced both the longevity and EMT hourly pay increments already accrued by Petitioners. Each reduction in pay was based on Respondent's 2017 reinterpretation of the longevity and EMT pay policies adopted by the Respondent's City Council in 2008. Because no facts were in dispute as to either the 2008 pay policies or Respondent's 2017

reinterpretation of those two policies, the Circuit Court properly decided summary judgment as to liability in favor of Petitioners.

The parties agreed that exhibits thereto were the only documents relevant to Petitioners' liability claims.<sup>5</sup> Respondent confirmed that there two documents were the only ones relevant to liability in its 30(b)(7) deposition:

Q. Is it accurate that City 0066 through City 0077, that that's the longevity pay policy ordinance that we discussed previously?

A. Yeah, 0066 and then through 0069, is that what you're -- 77?

Q. Yeah. Well, I'm trying to capture the entire ordinance that would be at issue, and I may not have chosen the proper documents, but the way I looked at it, it should have been 0066 through 0077 to capture the entire ordinance.

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q. Okay. So that set of documents, 0066 through 0077 in Exhibit 2, is the entire ordinance a part of which deals with the longevity pay issue that we previously discussed, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And that is the only document related to the longevity pay as we've talked about earlier that the City has, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. And I might add the EMT piece of that is located on City 0079. Jiles 30(b)(7) TR 82-83.

---

<sup>5</sup> Defendant confirmed that there two documents were the only ones relevant to liability in its 30(b)(7) deposition:  
Q. Is it accurate that City 0066 through City 0077, that that's the longevity pay policy ordinance that we discussed previously?

A. Yeah, 0066 and then through 0069, is that what you're -- 77?

Q. Yeah. Well, I'm trying to capture the entire ordinance that would be at issue, and I may not have chosen the proper documents, but the way I looked at it, it should have been 0066 through 0077 to capture the entire ordinance.

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q. Okay. So that set of documents, 0066 through 0077 in Exhibit 2, is the entire ordinance a part of which deals with the longevity pay issue that we previously discussed, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And that is the only document related to the longevity pay as we've talked about earlier that the City has, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. And I might add the EMT piece of that is located on City 0079. *Joint Appendix* at 659, Jiles TR 30(b)(7) TR 82-83.

The City acknowledged that the pay reductions imposed by Respondent in 2017 were never submitted to the Parkersburg City Council for approval, even though Council had set Petitioners' longevity and EMT pay to begin with:

Q. Okay. Was the change from the 42 cent per hour rate that we see in Exhibit 2, City 0079, was the change from the 42 cents per hour in that document to the 37 cents per hour that the City applied in May 2017, was that change submitted to the City Council for approval?

A. Nope. No, sir.

Q. Was the change in the longevity pay that was adopted in May 2017 submitted to the City Council for approval?

A. No. That did not appear necessary because it wasn't change in their longevity pay. It was a correction of an error.

A. Correct.

Q. Regardless of what it was, was it submitted to the City Council for approval?

A. No, it was not necessary.

Q. Well, with all due respect, Mr. Jiles, that isn't your call.

But regardless of that, it was not, correct?

A. No, sir.

Q. And the pay policies that created the longevity pay were created by the City Council, correct?

A. The longevity rates?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. Yes.

Q. And the pay rate that gave the EMT pay, the certification additional pay, that was also created by the City Council, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. But when the changes were made in May 2017, those were not created by the City Council. Those changes were adopted by you, the City, correct, without the City Council's input?

A. We corrected the error in which those rates were applied.

Q. Well, regardless of what you call it, you changed the rate of pay of the individuals involved with regard to longevity and with regard to EMT pay, and you did that without submitting those changes to the City Council, correct?

A. Correct, because it was a correction of an error. *Joint Appendix* at 657, Jiles 30(b)(7) TR 50-51.

## **VII. Argument**

**1. The City's 2017 reduction of its firefighters' longevity increment and EMT pay was in violation of its written pay policies, nine years of the City's pay practices and the West Virginia Wage Payment Collection Act and the Intermediate Court's Reversal of that determination by the Circuit Court was error.**

### **A. Longevity Pay**

The City of Parkersburg's 2008 adoption of an ordinance (Exhibit A, to Amended Complaint, *Joint Appendix* at 96) established a number of employment policies and procedures applicable to Petitioners and all similarly situated employees. These policies included the addition of a small longevity increment to the hourly rate of pay for fire civil service employees. Amended Complaint ¶ 9, Answer to Amended Complaint ¶ 9, *Joint Appendix* at 92, 124. The pertinent portion of the ordinance provides:

#### LONGEVITY PLAN

(Revised 05/20/08)

Effective July 1, 2008 (not retroactive) all full-time regular employees, police civil service employees, and fire (40-hour) civil service employees will receive longevity of thirty (\$.30) cents per hour for each year of city service. Appointed part-time employees will receive longevity of six hundred twenty-four (\$624) dollars per year for each year of city service.<sup>6</sup> **Fire civil service employees working a 48 hour work-week will receive longevity of twenty-five (\$.25) cents per hour for each year of city service. Fire civil service employees working a**

---

<sup>6</sup> None of the Appellees were appointed part-time employees.

Q. Designation number 53 asks for all information in defendant's possession as to whether any plaintiff to this action was at any time a part-time employee.

A. Not that I'm aware.

Q. So none of the plaintiffs in this action were appointed part-time employees of the City; is that correct?

A. I believe so, yes. *Jiles 30(b)(7) TR 85, Joint Appendix* at 166.

**54 hour work-week will receive longevity of twenty-two point two two (\$.2222) cents per hour for each year of city service.** Employees will receive said longevity on their anniversary date of employment. Longevity will be included in the base pay for purposes of overtime, etc. The granting of all longevity pay is contingent upon City Council action and approval through the City budget. (emphasis added)

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