---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOA EFiled: Jul 15 2024  
04:25PM EDT  
Transaction ID 73668366

CASE NO. 24-82

---

WAYNE WHITE, MICHAEL WOOD, JOSHUA GANDEE AND OTHERS SIMILARLY  
SITUATED AND INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS LOCAL 91,

*Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,*

v.

CITY OF PARKERSBURG,

*Defendant Below, Respondent.*

**(On Appeal from the Final Order of the Honorable Robert A. Waters;  
Circuit Court of Wood County, West Virginia; Case No. 18-C-259)**

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

---

Johnnie E. Brown WV State Bar No. 4620  
Donovan M. Powell, WV State Bar No. 13914  
*PULLIN, FOWLER, FLANAGAN, BROWN & POE PLLC*  
JamesMark Building

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Intermediate Court’s ruling confirmed that the City of Parkersburg has the right and duty to apply its ordinances and respective rates as written. Petitioners’ arguments, in part, rely on the unsupported and incorrect premise that Petitioners were receiving the “correct” amount of longevity and EMT pay when working 54-hour schedule while being paid according to a 48-hour rate. Petitioners continue to assert that they are entitled to a the higher 48-hour pay rate (while working 54-hours) simply because the City erroneously applied the ordinances for nine years. The

applicable law shows that Petitioners' assertions and the trial Court's Order were properly reversed by the West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals.

The ICA's decision confirms that a municipality can prospectively correct its application of an erroneous pay practice which was contrary to binding ordinance and not violate the West Virginia Wage Payment and Protection Act. The City is not required to continue to abide by a pay practice that violates its own lawfully passed ordinance. It has the legal right to prospectively conform its pay practices to its ordinance, without any respective penalty or negative implications to its employees.

As to the IAFF, this fraternal group has no involvement in this matter, has not suffered any lost wages, and have not standing to be a party to this civil action.

The Petitioners' final attempt to claim additional unearned overpayments related to longevity ordinances prior to the 2008 ordinances are factually meritless, not included in the initial trial Court's Order, and should not be awarded. *See Order at Appx. 568.* Petitioners should not have succeeded in receiving these additional overpayments after petitioning the trial Court to re-write its initial Order and include an award of years of prorated longevity pay outside of the 2008 ordinance in dispute and at specific rates never complained of or alleged in this civil action.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Pursuant to Rules 10(c)(6) and 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure the Petitioner avers that the decisional process will be significantly aided by oral argument. The instant matter is accompanied by extensive factual background and procedural timeline which could likely be clarified by counsel for the Court. Specifically, Rule 19(a)(1) is satisfied here due to the trial Court's *Final Order* awarding longevity back pay and prospective relief in excess of the weight of evidence. Rules 19(a)(2)-(3) also apply as the trial Court's Amended Order and Final Order both

put the City in an untenable position where it has been forced to continue overpayments or else violate the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondent respectfully avers that the *de novo* standard of review this Court applies to an appeal from a circuit Court's order of summary judgment should be applied to this instant appeal from the ICA's decision to reverse the Circuit Court's erroneous decision granting the Petitioners' motion for summary judgment. Applying this same *de novo* standard, the ICA does not weigh the evidence but determines if there is a genuine issue of fact to be tried. Entry of an order granting summary judgment is appropriate when the record taken as a whole does lead a rational trier of fact to find in favor of the nonmoving party. If the moving party shows no genuine issue of material fact, then the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. "Only disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly preclude the entry of summary judgment. Factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be counted." *Marcus v. Holley*, 217 W. Va. 508, 516, 618 S.E.2d 517, 525 (2005).

It is not the defendant's burden "to negate the elements of claims on which [plaintiff] would bear the burden at trial." *Powderidge Unit Owners Ass 'n v. Highland Props., Ltd*, 196 W. Va. 692, 698-99, 474 S.E.2d 872, 879 (1996) (citation omitted). Rather, it is the defendant's burden "only [to] point to the absence of evidence supporting [plaintiff's] case." *Id.* at 699 When a motion for summary judgment is properly supported, the burden shifts to the opposing party to demonstrate that summary judgment is not appropriate. *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 60, 459 S.E.2d 329, 337 (1995). To show that summary judgment is not appropriate, the opposing party, "must satisfy the burden of proof by offering more than a mere 'scintilla of evidence,' and must produce evidence sufficient for a reasonable jury to find in a nonmoving

party's favor." *Id.* To meet their burden, plaintiffs "must identify specific facts in the record and articulate the precise manner in which that evidence supports [their] claims." *Powderidge*, 196 W. Va. at 699, 474 S.E.2d at 879; *see also Precision Coil*, 194 W. Va. at 59, n. 9, 459 S.E.2d at 336, n. 9 (1995) (where the party opposing a motion for summary judgment fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an essential element of his or her case on which he or she will bear the burden of proof at trial, "Rule 56(e) mandates the entry of a summary judgment[.]").

The Court in *Precision Coil* further observed that, although a trial court considering a motion for summary judgment must view inferences from the underlying facts in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment, it should consider only "reasonable inferences." *Precision Coil*, 194 W. Va. at n. 10, 459 S.E.2d at n. 10. More specifically, "We need not credit purely conclusory allegations, indulge in speculation, or draw improbable inferences. Whether the inference is reasonable cannot be decided in a vacuum; it must be considered 'in light of the competing inferences' to the contrary." *Id.* "The evidence illustrating the factual controversy cannot be conjectural or problematic." *Precision Coil*, 194 W. Va. at 60, 459 S.E.2d at 337.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE INTERMEDIATE COURT'S REVERSAL OF THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DETERMINATION WAS CORRECT BECAUSE THE CITY'S 2017 PROSPECTIVE ACTION TO CORRECT AN INCORRECT APPLICATION OF THE 2008 LONGEVITY AND EMT ORDINANCES WAS LEGALLY CORRECT.**

Petitioners argue that the City arbitrarily lowered Petitioners' EMT and Longevity pay without legal justification. The Intermediate Court correctly concluded that the Circuit Court's finding was an erroneous application of the City's longevity and EMT pay ordinances and was simply incorrect. It is factually clear that the City was overpaying Petitioners for several years by providing them a higher 48-hour rate on both longevity and EMT pay rather than the 54-hour rate

for the 54-hour week they worked since 2011. They make this claim in spite of the ordinance specifically providing a 54-hour rate of \$.2222 per hour. This assertion is incorrect, the longevity ordinance clearly states that if firemen work 54-hours they should receive \$.2222 extra per hour worked which equals the annual amount of \$624 per longevity year after 2008.

There was no “reinterpretation” of the 2008 ordinance as there is nothing ambiguous to interpret here, the 2008 ordinance makes clear that City of Parkersburg firemen to receive \$624.00 per applicable longevity year, no more and no less. Put simply, the City changed the effected firemen’s weekly hours in 2011 to 54-hours the 2008 ordinance required that they be paid \$.2222 per hour resulting in \$624.00 per longevity year between 2008 to 2011 when accrual of longevity was stopped and 54-hour weeks began. There is no other logical application of the 2008 longevity ordinance. The Intermediate Court agreed, stating that it did not “find that the application of the 54-hour rate explicitly denoted in the 2008 longevity pay plan constitutes a change or reduction in wages such as that contemplated by the WCPA.” *Appx. 977.*

Furthermore, the City’s ability to enforce and correctly apply its own ordinances is paramount to an objective and just system of municipal governance. The Intermediate Court recognized the City’s right and its duty to correct its own errors and apply its ordinances correctly. This Court has set precedent to this right when ruling that “in the absence of a contractual obligation providing otherwise, a public employer is permitted to unilaterally modify a longstanding policy affecting the rights of employees where notice is provided to such employees and where the modification of policy does not retroactively impair previously earned and vested rights, such as pension benefits.” *Boggess v. City of Charleston*, 234 W. Va. 366, 377, 765 S.E.2d 255, 266 (2014).

The Intermediate Court was also correct in holding the City's right found in *Bogges*, "public employers must be permitted to exercise discretion in making changes in policies and procedures as mandated by the electorate and in order 'to control its annual budgetary and discretionary functions[,] this is contrasted by the 'absence of an employee's right to the continued existence of a particular means or method of compensation.'" *Id. at 375. Appx. 977.*

**II. PLAINTIFFS HAVE NO VESTED RIGHT TO CONTINUED OVERPAYMENTS OF LONGEVITY AND EMT CERTIFICATION PAY.**

Unlike the trial court, the ICA correctly recognized that Petitioners are not entitled to a continued overpayment nor is it a vested right due to the length of time of said error. Specifically, petitioners argue that the length of time the City's overpayments were made to plaintiffs made such payments a vested right entitled to be received thereafter. This argument is another instance of Petitioners arguing a non-existent and unsupportable legal position. The ICA correctly found that "nothing in the briefs or record below to support such a contention, nor do we find any such support in our jurisprudence. Notably, respondents do not point to any statutory or common law that would tend to define such vested rights as those fringe benefits erroneously paid in excess." *Appx. 977.*

Characterizing the City's prospective corrective measures as an unauthorized change in EMT and longevity pay policy terms and conditions which violated the Wage Payment and Collection Act is not legally accurate. The applicable longevity and EMT ordinances' terms and conditions remained unaltered since their adoption in 2008. The extent of the City's actions in 2017 was to effectively stop overpaying plaintiffs EMT and longevity benefits based upon a 48-hour week and begin paying the City firefighters the correct amount as defined within the City's ordinances. No terms or conditions of the relevant ordinances were ever changed nor were they

ever “reinterpreted,” the ordinances and their intents are clear and unambiguous. The City simply just applied its ordinances correctly after many years of incorrect application.

The City was fully within its rights to prospectively correct its misapplication of the subject ordinances. This Court has made it clear that a public employer is permitted to unilaterally modify any longstanding policy affecting the rights of employees as long as notice was provided, and the modification does not impair a previously earned and vested right such as pension benefits. *Boggess v. City of Charleston*, 234 W. Va. 366, 377, 756 S.E.2d 255, 266 (2014). Clearly, since the *Boggess* Court articulated this right to change even a longstanding fringe benefit and by simultaneously recognizing pension benefits as a “vested right” (but not fringe benefits), the longstanding overpayment of fringe benefits by the City is not a “vested right” as the Circuit Court has declared it to be.

**III. THE CITY’S CORRECTION TO PLAINTIFFS’ EMT AND LONGEVITY BENEFITS CEASED WHAT WERE OVERPAYMENTS TO THE PETITIONERS AND DID NOT RESULT IN PLAINTIFFS RECEIVING LESS THAN THE ANNUAL AMOUNTS AUTHORIZED BY CITY COUNCIL IN THE RESPECTIVE ORDINANCES.**

Pursuant to *Boggess*, the City has the right to prospectively correct its application of an ordinance to stop what was a clear overpayment. It is important to note that the City did not change the Longevity or EMT ordinance’s language or alter the amount of annual pay received for either benefit it provided under the ordinance. Thus, no “authorization” from City Council was needed. City Council had already set forth its annual benefit amount for these benefits when the ordinances were enacted.

If, as the Petitioners assert, the City is to revert back to paying 54-hour employees at the 48-hour rate the City would be forced to continue paying Petitioners overpayments and ignore its ordinances. This argument is legally incorrect and irrational to assert that a City has no right to

properly apply its ordinances and to govern its own finances, all in a prospective manner. This does not violate the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act.

Petitioners' assert that the "ICA simply handwaves away the requirement under West Virginia Code section 21-5-9 that employer notify an employee of the rate of pay and any changes to that rate by accepting the City's explanation that is 9-year practice of paying the employees correctly was 'an error' and therefore, did not require notice when it was revoked in 2017. This position completely guts without explanation or rationale, the requirement of West Virginia Code section 21-5-9..."

In taking this position, Petitioners ignore the ICA's holding and analysis of precedent set forth in *Boguess v. City of Charleston*, 234 W.Va. 366, 377, 756 S.E.2d 255, 266 (2014) and *Warth v. Seldin*, 422 U.S. 490, 95 S. Ct. 2197 (1975). As stated, the ICA held that there existed no "vested rights" for continued overpayments of wages to employees and the City has right to correctly apply its ordinances when it particularly did so in a prospective manner with any harm to the employees for prior incorrect wage payments by the City.

**IV. THE INTERMEDIATE COURT'S REVERSAL OF THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINAL ORDER OF AUGUST 31, 2022, WAS CORRECT AS THE TRIAL COURT ADDRESSED ISSUES NOT RAISED IN PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED COMPLAINT, NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, AND WOULD RESULT IN DECADES WORTH OF LONGEVITY AND EMT PAYMENTS CONTRARY TO THE 2008 ORDINANCES.**

The ICA correctly determined that the Circuit Court's Order amounted to clear error in its legal analysis and conclusion and factual recitation. The August 31, 2022, Order was drafted by Petitioners and entered by the Circuit Court effectively granted back pay for longevity pay earned and paid at rates according to pre-2008 ordinances which have separate and unique terms and conditions. *Appx. 781-795*. These ordinances were never alleged to have been invalid in the Amended Complaint or Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment. Although plaintiffs were

certainly aware that these rates and ordinances applied to longevity years prior to 2008, they failed to raise or dispute these facts. *Appx. 867-888.*

After the Trial Court's Amended Order was entered directing the City to perform specific damage calculations and *after* allowing the City to perform these extensive calculation the Petitioners accused the City of conducting its damage calculations according to the exact formula ordered by the Court's Order. Rather than admit they were now asking for monies paid according to ordinances they had never disputed or sought to amend their complaint, the Petitioners provided the trial Court with a narrative that somehow cast blame on the City for following the Court's Amended Order. *Appx. 833-866 & Appx. 867-888.*

Contrary to Petitioners and plaintiffs below argument, a cursory overview of the Amended Complaint, dispositive motions, and the Trial Court's Amended Order show the exact opposite of the Petitioners' position. *Appx. 22-41, 132-432, 564-568, 781-795.* The City did not "raise" these pre-2008 ordinances as a defense against the 2008 ordinance disputed in this matter because plaintiff never argued that the City incorrectly applied them. The lower trial court completely ignored that the plaintiffs' Complaint and summary judgment only sought back pay pursuant to the rates disputed in the 2008 ordinance. *Appx. 581-597, App. 661-780.* The lower trial court ignored the plain language of properly passed City pre-2008 ordinances which set an annual total amount of longevity pay regardless of the number of hours worked. By its actions, the lower trial court arbitrarily and unilaterally increased the annual amounts articulated in the pre-2008 longevity ordinances even though Plaintiff's complaint is void of any allegations against those particular pre-2008 ordinances.

It is not the City presenting new facts or arguments to the Circuit Court, but the plaintiffs who now, for the first time, seek repayment for pro-rated longevity under pre-2008 ordinances

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